ON THE INDEX OF PSEUDO-DIFFERENTIAL OPERATORS ON COMPACT LIE GROUPS

DUVÁN CARDONA

ABSTRACT. In this note we study the analytical index of pseudo-differential operators by using the notion of (infinite dimensional) operator-valued symbols (in the sense of Ruzhansky and Turunen). Our main tools will be the McKean-Singer index formula together with the operator-valued functional calculus developed here.

MSC 2010. Primary 19K56; Secondary 58J20, 43A65.

Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Preliminaries	4
2.1. The operator-valued quantization	4
2.2. Fredholm operators	5
2.3. The matrix-valued quantization	6
3. Operator-valued functional calculus for operators on compact Li	e
groups	7
4. The index of operators on compact Lie groups	9
4.1. Ellipticity in terms of the operator-valued quantization	10
4.2. Index formulae for elliptic operators	10
5. The index of operators on \mathbb{T}^n , SU(2) and SU(3).	15
References	18

1. INTRODUCTION

In this note we investigate index formulae for pseudo-differential operators on compact Lie groups by using the notion of operator-valued symbol.

A pseudo-differential operator $A: C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) \to C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, is an integral operator defined by

$$Af(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} e^{ix\xi} \sigma_A(x,\xi) \hat{f}(\xi) \, d\xi, \qquad (1.1)$$

and associated to a smooth function $\sigma_A(x,\xi)$ – called the symbol of A – satisfying some bounded conditions on its derivatives (see [24]). Here \hat{f} denotes the euclidean Fourier transform of the function f. For every $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and every

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. 19K56; Secondary 58J20, 43A65.

 $Key\ words\ and\ phrases.$ Index Theorem, Elliptic operator, Compact Lie Group, Representation theory.

open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, the Hörmander class of symbols of order $m, S^m(U \times \mathbb{R}^n)$, (for a detailed description see [24]), is defined by functions satisfying the usual estimates

$$|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}\sigma_A(x,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,\beta}\langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\beta|},\tag{1.2}$$

for all $(x,\xi) \in T^*U \cong U \times \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$. These classes initially defined on open sets of \mathbb{R}^n , can be defined on smooth manifolds by using charts. On a manifold M (orientable and without boundary), the corresponding operators associated to the Hörmander classes of order m will be denoted by $\Psi^m(M)$. In our case we are interested when M = G is a compact Lie group.

It is well known that every elliptic pseudo-differential operator D on a closed manifold M (i.e a compact manifold without boundary) acting in smooth functions, has kernel and cokernel of finite dimension and, in terms of the L^2 -theory of Fredholm operators, so it can be associated an integer number, called the index of D and, defined by

$$\operatorname{ind}(D) := \dim \operatorname{Kernel}(D) - \dim \operatorname{Cokernel}(D).$$
 (1.3)

Now, let G be a compact Lie group, $\mathscr{D}(G) = C^{\infty}(G)$ be the space of smooth functions on G endowed with the usual Frechet structure and $\mathscr{D}'(G)$ be the space of Schwartz distributions. Let us consider a continuous operator $A: C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ and the right convolution operator r(f) on G (defined by r(f)(g) = g * f, where $f \in \mathscr{D}'(G), g \in C^{\infty}(G)$). If π_R is the right regular representation on G (defined by $\pi_R(x)f(y) = f(yx), x, y \in G, f \in C^{\infty}(G)$) then, Ruzhansky and Turunen in [29] showed that

$$Af(x) = \operatorname{tr}(\sigma_A(x)r(f)\pi_R(x)), \qquad (1.4)$$

for some unique (operator-valued) symbol $\sigma_A : G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$ from G into the space of continuous linear operators on $C^{\infty}(G)$. The pseudo-differential term is justified because r(f), is sometimes, called the right global Fourier transform of f.

In relation with our work, a characterization for the Hörmander classes $\Psi^m(G)$ of pseudo-differential operators on arbitrary compact Lie groups, in terms of operator-valued symbols, was proved by M. Taylor (see Remark 10.11.22 of [29]). If $A: C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ extends to a Fredholm operator on $L^2(G)$ (a necessary and sufficient condition for the Fredholmness of A is the ellipticity condition), in this paper we compute the index of A in terms of its operator-valued symbol $\sigma_A: G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$ and the operator-valued symbol of its formal adjoint A^* , $\sigma_{A^*}: G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$. Complete references on index theory are the books [10, 19] and [20].

The main result in index theory is the Atiyah-Singer index theorem. This theorem was conjectured by I. M. Gelfand and several of its versions or extensions can be found in the works of M. Atiyah, I. Singer and R. Bott, [1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 12] for several classes of manifolds (and non-commutative structures). It was proved in these references that the index of an elliptic operator can be written in topological terms depending only on the homotopy class of its principal symbol. For a general elliptic pseudo-differential operator D, acting on smooth sections of a closed manifold M, the Atiyah-Singer index formula has the following structure.

First, the principal symbol of the operator D defines a Chern character $ch(\sigma_D)$ which is a cohomology class with compact support in TM, the tangent bundle on M. In addition, there exists a cohomology class $td(TM \otimes \mathbb{C})$, called the Todd class, which give rise to the following integral expression for the index of D

$$\operatorname{ind}(D) = (-1)^n \int_{TM} \operatorname{ch}(\sigma_D) \operatorname{td}(TM \otimes \mathbb{C}), \qquad (1.5)$$

where $n = \dim(M)$, see [4]. Although the general Atiyah-Singer index theorem applies for compact Lie groups, our main goal is to write the index of elliptic operators as an integral expression taking advantage of the Ruzhansky-Turunen operator-valued calculus [29]. So, if $\delta_g \in \mathscr{D}'(G)$ is the Dirac point mass distribution at $g \in G$, and $D = A \in \Psi^0(G)$ is an elliptic operator on G, we prove that

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \mu_{\gamma}(g) dg, \qquad (1.6)$$

where

$$\mu_{\gamma}(g) := \exp(-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g))\delta_g(g) - \exp(-\gamma \sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g))\delta_g(g), \qquad (1.7)$$

for all $\gamma > 0$. The right hand side of (1.6) is understood in the sense of distributions. The corresponding index theorem for operators of general order will be given in Theorem 4.6. As it will be observed, our instrumental tool will be the McKean-Singer lemma

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \operatorname{tr}(e^{-tA^*A}) - \operatorname{tr}(e^{-tAA^*}), \ t > 0.$$
 (1.8)

In our case, the McKean-Singer lemma implies a local index formula of the form

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \mu_0(g) dg \tag{1.9}$$

for some density μ_0 on G defined by certain geometrical invariants (see the classical work [2] of Atiyah, Bott and Patody). In this case, the operator-valued symbolic calculus of Ruzhansky and Turunen simplifies the McKean-Singer formula (1.8) to the expression (1.6). Certainly, the density μ_{γ} is defined by the operator valued symbols associated to A and A^* and consequently by the global Fourier analysis associated to every compact Lie group. On the other hand, if \hat{G} denotes the set of equivalence classes of strongly continuous, irreducible and unitary representations on G, we show that every elliptic operator $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ has Fredholm index given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} \dim(\xi) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(x)\xi)(e_{G})) \, dx, \qquad (1.10)$$

where

$$(\mu_{\gamma}(x)\xi)(e_G) = (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x))\xi)(e_G) - (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_A(x)\sigma_{A^*}(x))\xi)(e_G),$$
(1.11)

here e_G is the identity element of G. In this case, $\tilde{\mu}_{\gamma}(x)\xi := \dim(\xi) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(x)\xi)(e_G))$ can be viewed as a density on the non-commutative phase space $G \times \hat{G}$. So, the index of elliptic operators on compact Lie groups can be written in terms

of the algebraic information in the representation theory of the group and the operator-valued symbol of these operators. We refer the reader to the references [11, 12, 23, 25, 26, 34, 36] where certain index formulae have been proved for specific elliptic operators on homogeneous spaces G/K.

This paper is organized as follows. In Section 2 we present some basics on the Fourier analysis used in our context and the global quantization of operators trough of operator-valued symbols. The operator-valued functional calculus will be developed in Section 3. In Section 4 we prove our index formulae. Finally, in Section 5 we provide explicit index formulae for elliptic operators on the torus, and the groups SU(2) and SU(3).

2. Preliminaries

In this section we present some topics on compact Lie groups, the Fourier analysis used here, and the operator valued calculus of Ruzhansky and Turunen. For this we follow [21] and [29]. The reference [24] includes a complete background on the theory of pseudo-differential operators.

2.1. The operator-valued quantization. Throughout of this paper G is a compact Lie group endowed with its normalised Haar measure dg. For $f \in \mathscr{D}'(G)$, the respective right-convolution operator $r(f) : C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ is defined by

$$r(f)g = g * f, \ g \in C^{\infty}(G).$$

$$(2.1)$$

If $f \in L^2(G)$, the (right) global Fourier transform is defined by

$$r(f) = \int_{G} f(y) \pi_{R}(y)^{*} dy,$$
 (2.2)

where π_R is the right regular representation on G, defined by $\pi_R(x)f(y) = f(yx)$ and $\pi_R(x)^* = \pi_R(x^{-1}), x \in G$. In this case, the Fourier inversion formula gives

$$f(x) = \operatorname{tr}(r(f)\pi_R(x)), \ f \in C^{\infty}(G), x \in G.$$
(2.3)

If $\rho: G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$ is a continuous operator, the pseudo-differential operator A associated to ρ , is defined by

$$Af(x) = \operatorname{tr}(\rho(x)r(f)\pi_R(x)), \ f \in C^{\infty}(G).$$
(2.4)

Conversely, if $A: C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ is a continuous linear operator, then there exists an unique $\sigma_A: G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$ (called the operator-valued symbol of A) satisfying

$$Af(x) = \operatorname{tr}(\sigma_A(x)r(f)\pi_R(x)), \ f \in C^{\infty}(G).$$

$$(2.5)$$

The symbol σ_A is defined as follows. Let $K_A \in C^{\infty}(G) \widehat{\otimes} \mathscr{D}'(G)$ be the distributional Schwartz kernel of A and $R_A(x, y) = K(x, y^{-1}x)$ is the right-convolution kernel associated to A. If $x \in G$, and $R_A(x) \in \mathscr{D}'(G)$ is defined by $(R_A(x))(y) =$ $R_A(x, y)$ for every $y \in G$, the (right) operator-valued symbol $\rho = \sigma_A$ associated to A is defined by $\sigma_A(x) := r(R_A(x)), x \in G$. In our further analysis will be useful the following composition theorem. **Proposition 2.1** (Composition formula for operator valued symbols). Let us assume that A and E are continuous linear operators on $C^{\infty}(G)$. Then, for every $x \in G$ we have

$$\sigma_{AE}(x) = \sigma_A(x)\sigma_E(x). \tag{2.6}$$

Proof. Let us note that for $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$,

$$AEf(x) = \operatorname{tr}(\sigma_A(x)r(Ef(\cdot))\pi_R(x)).$$
(2.7)

Since

$$r(Ef(\cdot)) = r((f * R_E(\cdot))(\cdot)) = r(R_E(\cdot))r(f) = \sigma_E(\cdot)r(f),$$

we deduce

$$AEf(x) = \operatorname{tr}(\sigma_A(x)\sigma_E(x)r(f)\pi_R(x)), \qquad (2.8)$$

and by uniqueness we have $\sigma_{AE}(x) = \sigma_A(x)\sigma_E(x)$. So, we finish the proof. \Box

Remark 2.2. If $A : C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ is a continuous linear operator, for every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, the operator A^k is continuous on $C^{\infty}(G)$, and by the preceding result the operator valued symbol of A^k satisfies $\sigma_{A^k}(x) = \sigma_A(x)^k$, $x \in G$. It is easy to see that if A is invertible on $C^{\infty}(G)$, then $\sigma_{A^{-1}}(x) = \sigma_A(x)^{-1}$, for all $x \in G$.

2.2. Fredholm operators. The index is defined for a broad class of operators called Fredholm operators. Now, we introduce this notion in more detail. For X, Y normed spaces B(X, Y) is the set of bounded linear operators from X into Y.

Definition 2.3. If H_1 and H_2 are Hilbert spaces, the closed and densely defined operator $A : H_1 \to H_2$ is Fredholm if only if Ker(A) is finite dimensional and Im(A) = Rank(A) is a closed subspace of H_2 with finite codimension. In this case, the index of A is defined by $\text{ind}(A) = \dim \text{Ker}(A) - \dim \text{Coker}(A)$. The index formula also can be written as

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \operatorname{dim}\operatorname{Ker}(A) - \operatorname{dim}\operatorname{Ker}(A^*).$$

Now, we end this subsection with a result now known as McKean-Singer index formula. We present the proof by completeness.

Lemma 2.4. Let us assume that $T: H_1 \to H_2$ is a Fredholm operator, TT^* and T^*T have a discrete spectrum, and for all t > 0, e^{-tT^*T} and e^{-tTT^*} are trace class. Then

$$\operatorname{ind}(T) = \operatorname{tr}(e^{-tT^*T}) - \operatorname{tr}(e^{-tTT^*}).$$
 (2.9)

Proof. Let $\lambda \in \Sigma(T^*T)$, $\lambda \neq 0$, then there exists a non-zero vector $\phi \in H_1$ such that $T^*T(\phi) = \lambda \phi$. Then, $TT^*T(\phi) = \lambda T \phi$ so that if $T(\phi)$ is non-zero, then it is an eigenvalue of TT^* . It follows that the non-zero eigenvalues of TT^* and TT^* are the same. Thus

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-tT^*T}) - \operatorname{tr}(e^{-tTT^*}) = \dim \operatorname{Ker}(T^*T) - \dim \operatorname{Ker}(TT^*).$$

Since $\operatorname{Ker}(A^*A) = \operatorname{Ker}(A)$ and $\operatorname{Ker}(AA^*) = \operatorname{Ker}(A^*)$ we end the proof.

2.3. The matrix-valued quantization. Let us consider for every compact Lie group G its unitary dual \widehat{G} , that is the set of continuous, irreducible, and unitary representations on G. If $[\xi] \in \widehat{G}$, and $\xi : G \to U(\mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi}})$, the following equalities follow from the Fourier transform on G

$$\widehat{f}(\xi) = \int_{G} \varphi(x)\xi(x)^* dx \in \mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi} \times d_{\xi}}, \ f(x) = \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}(\xi(x)\widehat{f}(\xi)), \ x \in G, f \in C^{\infty}(G),$$

and the Peter-Weyl Theorem on G implies the Plancherel Theorem on $L^2(G)$,

$$\|f\|_{L^{2}(G)} = \left(\sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}(\widehat{f}(\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)^{*})\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \|\widehat{f}\|_{L^{2}(\widehat{G})}$$

Notice that, since $||A||_{HS}^2 = \text{Tr}(AA^*)$, the term within the sum is defined by the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of the matrix $\widehat{f}(\xi)$. Any linear operator A on G mapping $C^{\infty}(G)$ into $\mathcal{D}'(G)$ gives rise to a matrix-valued global (or full) symbol $\sigma_A(x,\xi) \in \mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi} \times d_{\xi}}$ given by

$$\sigma_A(x,\xi) = \xi(x)^* (A\xi)(x), \ (A\xi)(x) := (A\xi_{ij})_{i,j=1}^{d_{\xi}}, \ x \in G, \ [\xi] \in \widehat{G},$$
(2.10)

which can be understood from the distributional viewpoint. Then it can be shown that the operator A can be expressed in terms of such a symbol as [29]

$$Af(x) = \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[\xi(x)\sigma_A(x,\xi)\widehat{f}(\xi)], \ x \in G.$$
(2.11)

The Hilbert space $L^2(\widehat{G})$ is defined by the norm

$$\|\Gamma\|_{L^2(\widehat{G})}^2 = \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \|\Gamma(\xi)\|_{HS}^2, \ \Gamma(\xi) \in \mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi} \times d_{\xi}}.$$

Now, we want to introduce Sobolev spaces and, for this, we give some basic tools. Let $\xi \in \operatorname{Rep}(G) := \cup \widehat{G}$, if $x \in G$ is fixed, $\xi(x) : H_{\xi} \to H_{\xi}$, $H_{\xi} \cong \mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi}}$, is an unitary operator and $d_{\xi} := \dim H_{\xi} < \infty$. There exists a non-negative real number $\lambda_{[\xi]}$ depending only on the equivalence class $[\xi] \in \widehat{G}$, but not on the representation ξ , such that $-\mathcal{L}_G\xi(x) = \lambda_{[\xi]}\xi(x)$; here \mathcal{L}_G is the Laplacian on the group G (in this case, defined as the Casimir element on G). Let $\langle \xi \rangle$ denote the function $\langle \xi \rangle = (1 + \lambda_{[\xi]})^{\frac{1}{2}}$.

Definition 2.5. For every $s \in \mathbb{R}$, the Sobolev space $H^s(G)$ on the Lie group G is defined by the condition: $f \in H^s(G)$ if only if $\langle \xi \rangle^s \hat{f} \in L^2(\hat{G})$.

The Sobolev space $H^s(G)$ is a Hilbert space endowed with the inner product $\langle f,g \rangle_s = \langle \Lambda_s f, \Lambda_s g \rangle_{L^2(G)}$, where, for every $r \in \mathbb{R}$, $\Lambda_s : H^r \to H^{r-s}$ is the bounded pseudo-differential operator with symbol $\langle \xi \rangle^s I_{\xi}$. In this paper the notion of Sobolev spaces $H^s(G)$ is essential. Indeed, every elliptic operator $T \in \Psi^m(G)$ of order m is a bounded operator from $H^s(G)$ into $H^{s-m}(G)$ and, more importantly, its index –as an operator from $C^{\infty}(G)$ to $C^{\infty}(G)$ – agrees with the index of T as operator acting from $H^s(G)$ into $H^{s-m}(G)$, for every $s \in \mathbb{R}$. **Definition 2.6.** Let $(Y_j)_{j=1}^{\dim(G)}$ be a basis for the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G, and let ∂_j be the left-invariant vector fields corresponding to Y_j . We define the differential operator associated to such a basis by $D_{Y_j} = \partial_j$ and, for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$, the differential operator ∂_x^{α} is the one given by $\partial_x^{\alpha} = \partial_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \partial_n^{\alpha_n}$. Now, if ξ_0 is a fixed irreducible representation, the matrix-valued difference operator is the given by $\mathbb{D}_{\xi_0} = (\mathbb{D}_{\xi_0,i,j})_{i,j=1}^{d_{\xi_0}} = \xi_0(\cdot) - I_{d_{\xi_0}}$. If the representation is fixed we omit the index ξ_0 so that, from a sequence $\mathbb{D}_1 = \mathbb{D}_{\xi_0,j_1,i_1}, \cdots, \mathbb{D}_n = \mathbb{D}_{\xi_0,j_n,i_n}$ of operators of this type we define $\mathbb{D}^{\alpha} = \mathbb{D}_1^{\alpha_1} \cdots \mathbb{D}_n^{\alpha_n}$, where $\alpha \in \mathbb{N}^n$. Other properties on these differences operators can be found in [33]. See also [22].

Now we introduce, for every $m \in \mathbb{R}$, the Hörmander class $\Psi^m(G)$ of pseudodifferential operators of order m on the compact Lie group G. As a compact manifold we consider $\Psi^m(G)$ as the set of those operators which, in all local coordinate charts, give rise to pseudo-differential operators in the Hörmander class $\Psi^m(U)$ for an open set $U \subset \mathbb{R}^n$, characterized by symbols satisfying the usual estimates [24]

$$|\partial_x^{\alpha}\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}\sigma(x,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,\beta}\langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\beta|},\tag{2.12}$$

for all $(x,\xi) \in T^*U \cong \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$. This class contains, in particular, differential operator of degree m > 0 and other well-known operators in global analysis such as heat kernel operators.

We reserve the notation $\Psi^m(G \times \widehat{G}) =: \Psi^m(G)$ for pseudo-differential operators of order m on G. The Hörmander classes $\Psi^m(G)$ were characterized in [29] (see also [30]) by the condition: $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ if only if its matrix-valued symbol $\sigma_A(x,\xi)$ satisfies the inequalities

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \mathbb{D}^{\beta} \sigma_A(x,\xi)\|_{op} \le C_{\alpha,\beta} \langle \xi \rangle^{m-|\beta|}, \ x \in G, \ [\xi] \in \widehat{G},$$
(2.13)

for every $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$. For a rather comprehensive treatment of this quantization process we refer to [29]. In this paper we are interested in the index of elliptic operators in $\Psi^m(G)$, where $m \in \mathbb{R}$. Now, we present the following theorem on elliptic pseudo-differential operators.

Theorem 2.7. An operator $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ is elliptic if and only if its matrix-valued symbol $\sigma_A(x,\xi)$ is an invertible matrix for all but finitely many $[\xi] \in \widehat{G}$, and for all such ξ and $x \in G$ satisfies

$$\|\sigma_A(x,\xi)^{-1}\|_{op} \le C\langle\xi\rangle^{-m}$$

Thus both statements are equivalent to the existence of $B \in \Psi^{-m}(G)$ such that $R_1 = I - AB$ and $R_2 = I - BA$ are smoothing. This means that $R_i \in \Psi^{-\infty}(G) := \bigcap_m \Psi^m(G)$, for i = 1, 2.

3. Operator-valued functional calculus for operators on compact Lie groups

In this section we develop the operator-valued functional calculus for pseudodifferential operators on compact Lie groups. It is important to mention that the matrix-valued functional calculus has been developed by M. Ruzhansky and J. Wirth in [32]. Our starting point is the following lemma where the set $\rho(T)$ denotes the resolvent set of T.

Lemma 3.1. Let us assume that $\omega \in \rho(T)$, and $T : C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ extends to a closed operator on $L^2(G)$. Then for all $x \in G$, $\omega \in \rho(\sigma_T(x))$ and we have the following identity for the resolvent operator of T.

$$\sigma_{(\omega-T)^{-1}}(x) = (\omega - \sigma_T(x))^{-1}.$$
(3.1)

Proof. If $\omega \in \rho(T)$, then $R_{\omega}(T) := \omega - T$ is a bounded and invertible operator on $L^2(G)$ and consequently,

$$(\omega - T)^{-1}(\omega - T) = I = (\omega - T)(\omega - T)^{-1}.$$
(3.2)

By Proposition 2.1, we have

$$\sigma_{(\omega-T)^{-1}}(x)\sigma_{(\omega-T)}(x) = \sigma_{(\omega-T)^{-1}}(x)(\omega - \sigma_T(x)) = I,$$
(3.3)

and

$$(\omega - \sigma_T(x))\sigma_{(\omega - T)^{-1}}(x) = \sigma_{(\omega - T)}(x)\sigma_{(\omega - T)^{-1}}(x) = I.$$
(3.4)

This analysis shows that $R_{\omega}(\sigma_T(x)) := \omega - \sigma_T(x)$ is an invertible operator on $L^2(G)$ and

$$\sigma_{(\omega-T)^{-1}}(x) = (\omega - \sigma_T(x))^{-1},$$

for all $x \in G$. The proof is complete.

Let us consider continuous, symmetric and linear operators $T : C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ such that T and $\sigma_T(x)$ admit self-adjoint extensions on $L^2(G)$, for all $x \in G$. Examples of these operators arise with operators of the form $T = A^*A$ because $\sigma_T(x) = \sigma_A(x)^*\sigma_A(x)$. We keep the same notation for their self-adjoint extensions on $L^2(G)$. We recall that the spectral theorem (for bounded and unbounded self-adjoint operators) implies

$$T = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda dE_{\lambda}, \ \sigma_T(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \lambda dE_{\lambda}(x), \qquad (3.5)$$

where $\{E_{\lambda}\}_{-\infty < \lambda < \infty}$ and $\{E_{\lambda}(x)\}_{-\infty < \lambda < \infty}$ are the spectral measures of T and $\sigma_T(x)$ respectively. Now we present the main result of this section. We will use the Stone formula (see Theorem 7.17 of [37])

$$E(\lambda) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda+\delta} ([t - i\varepsilon - T]^{-1} - [t + i\varepsilon - T]^{-1})dt, \qquad (3.6)$$

in our further analysis.

Theorem 3.2. Let us assume that T and $\sigma_T(x)$ are as in the previous discussion and $G: (-\infty, \infty) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a measurable function. Let us define the operator G(T)by the functional calculus:

$$G(T) := \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} G(\lambda) dE_{\lambda}.$$

Then, the identity

$$G(T)f(x) := [G(\sigma_T(x))f](x), \quad G(\sigma_T(x)) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} G(\lambda)dE_{\lambda}(x), \quad (3.7)$$

holds true for every $x \in G$ and $f \in \text{Dom}(G(T))$.

Proof. Let $x \in G$ be a fixed coordinate. By using Lemma 3.1 and the Stone formula, we have

$$E_{\lambda}(x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{+}} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda+\delta} ((t - i\varepsilon - \sigma_{T}(x))^{-1} - (t + i\varepsilon - \sigma_{T}(x))^{-1}) dt$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0^{+}} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda+\delta} (\sigma_{(t - i\varepsilon - T)^{-1}}(x) - \sigma_{(t + i\varepsilon - T)^{-1}}(x)) dt.$$

If $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$, then we deduce,

$$E_{\lambda}(x)f(x) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^{+}} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda+\delta} (\sigma_{(t-i\varepsilon-T)^{-1}}(x)f(x) - \sigma_{(t+i\varepsilon-T)^{-1}}(x)f(x))dt$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0^{+}} \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^{+}} \int_{-\infty}^{\lambda+\delta} ((t-i\varepsilon-T)^{-1}f(x) - (t+i\varepsilon-T)^{-1}f(x))dt$$
$$= E_{\lambda}f(x),$$

where in the last line we have used the Stone theorem applied to T. Now, the identity $E_{\lambda}f(x) = E_{\lambda}(x)f(x)$ implies

$$G(T)f(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} G(\lambda)dE_{\lambda}f(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} G(\lambda)dE_{\lambda}(x)f(x) = G(\sigma_T(x))f(x).$$

Thus, we finish the proof.

 $Remark\ 3.3.$ Let us complement the previous theorem by observing that the relation

$$E_{\lambda}f(x) = E_{\lambda}(x)f(x), \ f \in C^{\infty}(G),$$
(3.8)

holds true for all $x \in G$.

4. The index of operators on compact Lie groups

In this section we prove our main result. Since the prototype of Fredholm operators are elliptic operators, we classify such condition in terms of the operatorvalued quantization.

4.1. Ellipticity in terms of the operator-valued quantization. In terms of the representation theory of a compact Lie group and the notion of operator valued symbol, the ellipticity of operators can be characterized as follows.

Theorem 4.1. Let G be a compact Lie group and e_G its identity element. An operator $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ with operator valued symbol $\sigma_A : G \to \mathscr{B}(C^{\infty}(G))$ is elliptic if and only if the matrix-valued function $\sigma_A(x)\xi(e_G)$ is an invertible matrix for all but finitely many $[\xi] \in \widehat{G}$, and for all such ξ and $x \in G$ satisfies

$$\|[\sigma_A(x)\xi(e_G)]^{-1}\|_{op} \le C\langle\xi\rangle^{-m}.$$

Thus both statements are equivalent to the existence of $B \in \Psi^{-m}(G)$ such that $R_1 = I - AB$ and $R_2 = I - BA$ are smoothing. This means that $R_i \in \Psi^{-\infty}(G) := \bigcap_m \Psi^m(G)$, for i = 1, 2.

Proof. Let us denote by $B(x,\xi)$ the matrix-valued symbol associated to A. This means that $B: G \times \widehat{G} \to \bigcup_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} (\mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi}})$ satisfies $B(x,\xi) = \xi(x)^* (A\xi)(x)$. Theorem 10.11.16 in [29] gives the identity $B(x,\xi) = \sigma_{\sigma_A(x)}(y,\xi) := \xi(y)^* (\sigma_A(x)\xi)(y)$, for all $y \in G$. In particular, if $y = e_G$ is the identity element in G,

$$\sigma_A(x)\xi(e_G) = B(x,\xi), \ x \in G, \ [\xi] \in G.$$
 (4.1)

Thus, from Theorem 2.7 we finish the proof.

Remark 4.2. A similar analysis as in the previous result gives the following characterization of Hörmander classes in terms of operator-valued symbols. in fact, $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ if and only if

$$\|\partial_x^{\alpha} \mathbb{D}^{\beta}(\sigma_A(x)\xi(e_G))\|_{op} \le C_{\alpha,\beta}\langle\xi\rangle^{m-|\beta|},\tag{4.2}$$

for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{N}^n$. It is well know that pseudo-differential operators in $\Psi^0(G)$ are bounded operators on $L^2(G)$ (see [24]).

4.2. Index formulae for elliptic operators. Now we prove our main results. We start with the following theorem.

Theorem 4.3. Let G be a compact Lie group and $A \in \Psi^0(G)$ be an elliptic operator. Then the analytical index of A is given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \mu_{\gamma}(g) dg, \qquad (4.3)$$

where

$$\mu_{\gamma}(g) := \exp(-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g))\delta_g(g) - \exp(-\gamma \sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g))\delta_g(g), \qquad (4.4)$$

for all $\gamma > 0$, where δ_g is the Dirac point mass at $g \in G$.

Proof. Let us assume that $A \in \Psi^0(G)$ is an elliptic operator. Let us denote for all $x \in G$, by $B_{\sigma_A(x)}$ the matrix-valued symbol associated to $\sigma_A(x) : C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$. If $B(x,\xi)$ is the matrix-valued symbol associated to A, then Theorem 10.11.16 in [29] gives

$$B_{\sigma_A(x)}(y,\xi) = B(x,\xi), \ x,y \in G, [\xi] \in G.$$
(4.5)

Consequently for every $x \in G$, $\sigma_A(x) \in \Psi^0(G)$ is an elliptic operator. So, for every $x \in G$, $\sigma_A(x)$ extends to a bounded and Fredholm operator on $L^2(G)$ and the operators $A, A^*A, AA^*, \sigma_A(x), \sigma_A(x)^*\sigma_A(x), \sigma_A(x)\sigma_A(x)^*, e^{-\gamma A^*A}, e^{-\gamma AA^*}, e^{-\gamma \sigma_A(x)^*\sigma_A(x)}$, and $e^{-\gamma \sigma_A(x)\sigma_A(x)^*}$ have discrete spectrum. In order to compute the index of A we need to compute the operator-valued symbol of the operators $e^{-\gamma A^*A}$ and $e^{-\gamma AA^*}$. Although this can be done by using the operator-valued functional calculus developed in the previous section, we give a more elementary construction. For this we will use that the exponential formula $e^T = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!}T^k$ holds true for a bounded operator T, on a Hilbert space H, where we have assumed that T is self-adjoint and e^T is defined by the functional calculus. From Proposition 2.1 and Remark 2.2, we have for $f \in C^{\infty}(G)$ and $\gamma > 0$, the identity $e^{-\gamma A^*A}f(x) = e^{-\gamma \sigma_A^*(x)\sigma_A(x)}f(x)$, in fact

$$e^{-\gamma A^* A} f(x) = \left(\sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\gamma)^k / k! (A^* A)^k\right) f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\gamma)^k / k! ((A^* A)^k f)(x)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\gamma)^k / k! \sigma_{(A^* A)^k}(x) f(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\gamma)^k / k! (\sigma_{(A^* A)}(x))^k f(x)$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} (-\gamma)^k / k! (\sigma_{A^*}(x) \sigma_A(x))^k (x) f(x)$$
$$= e^{-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(x) \sigma_A(x)} f(x), \ x \in G,$$

where we have used that A and $\sigma_A(x)$ are bounded operators on $L^2(G)$ justifying so the convergence computations with the exponentials operators. So, the operator valued symbol associated to $e^{-\gamma A^*A}$ is given by $\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(x) = e^{-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}$. On the other hand, let us denote $K_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}$ to the distributional kernel associated to $e^{-\gamma A^*A}$. Then,

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^*A}) = \int_G K_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(g,g) dg.$$
(4.6)

Because $K_{\gamma}(g,g) = R_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(g,e_G)$, for every $g \in G$, (here e_G is the identity element of G) we have the distributional identity

$$e^{-\gamma A^* A} \delta_g(g) = \sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^* A}}(g) \delta_g(g) = \int_G \delta_g(y) R_{e^{-\gamma A^* A}}(y^{-1}g) dy = R_{e^{-\gamma A^* A}}(g, e_G).$$
(4.7)

Taking into account the first part of the proof, we deduce

$$e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g)}\delta_g(g) = R_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(g, e_G)$$
(4.8)

and consequently

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^*A}) = \int_G e^{-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g)} \delta_g(g) dg.$$

Similarly, an analogous analysis applied to A^* instead of A gives

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma AA^*}) = \int_G e^{-\gamma \sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g)} \delta_g(g) dg.$$

So, by Lemma (2.4) we have

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} (e^{-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g)} \delta_g(g) - e^{-\gamma \sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g)} \delta_g(g)) dg, \qquad (4.9)$$

where in the last line we have used Lemma 2.4. So, we finish the proof.

Remark 4.4. The main advantage here is Proposition 2.1 for the composition of operators, where we have a closed formula, instead of the usual global calculus where is used the notion of asymptotic expansions.

Remark 4.5. If $A \in \Psi^0(G)$ is a left invariant operator on a compact Lie group, its operator valued symbol is the constant mapping $\sigma_A(x) = A$, $x \in G$, in this case, A is a right convolution operator and from (4.3), ind(A) = 0. Operators on compact Lie groups with non vanishing index can be found in [29, Chapter 4].

Now, we prove an index theorem for operators of arbitrary order.

Theorem 4.6. Let G be a compact Lie group, $m \in \mathbb{R}$ and $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ be an elliptic operator. Then the analytical index of A is given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \mu_{\gamma,m}(g) dg, \qquad (4.10)$$

where

$$\mu_{\gamma,m}(g) := \exp(-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\Lambda_{-2m}\sigma_A(g))\delta_g(g) - \exp(-\gamma \Lambda_{-m}\sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g)\Lambda_{-m})\delta_g(g),$$
(4.11)

for all $\gamma > 0$, where δ_q is the Dirac point mass at $g \in G$.

Proof. For the proof we apply Theorem 4.3 to the operator $E = \Lambda_{-m} A \in \Psi^0(G)$. In fact, by using that Λ_m is self-adjoint, from the logarithmic property of the index we have

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \operatorname{ind}(\Lambda_m) + \operatorname{ind}(E) = \operatorname{ind}(E).$$

Because Λ_{-m} is left invariant, $\sigma_{\Lambda_{-m}}(x) = \Lambda_{-m}$, and $\sigma_E(x) = \Lambda_{-m}\sigma_A(x)$. Now, $E^* = A\Lambda_{-m}, \, \sigma_{E^*}(x) = \sigma_A(x)\Lambda_{-m}$ and we have

$$\operatorname{ind}(E) = \int_{G} \mu_{\gamma}(g) dg, \qquad (4.12)$$

where

$$\mu_{\gamma,m}(g) := \exp(-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(g)\Lambda_{-2m}\sigma_A(g))\delta_g(g) - \exp(-\gamma \Lambda_{-m}\sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g)\Lambda_{-m})\delta_g(g),$$
(4.13)
for all $\gamma > 0$. So, we finish the proof.

for all $\gamma > 0$. So, we finish the proof.

Now, we need some preliminary results in order to prove our third index theorem.

Proposition 4.7. Let G be a compact Lie group. Every elliptic pseudo-differential operator $T: C^{\infty}(G) \to C^{\infty}(G)$ of order $m \geq 0$ extends to a closed operator T on $L^2(G).$

Proof. Let us assume that $T \in \Psi^m(G)$ is an elliptic operator. We will show that T is closed on $L^2(G)$. Let $f_n \to f$ and assume that $Tf_n \to g$ where the convergence is in the $L^2(G)$ -norm. We will prove that Tf = g. From the Theorem 2.7 there exists $S \in \Psi^{-m}(G)$ such that TS = I + R where $R \in \Psi^{-\infty}(G)$. Since operators in $\Psi^r(G)$ are bounded on $L^2(G)$ for $r \leq 0$, we have that $STf_n \to Sg$ and $(ST)f_n \to (ST)f$. Hence Sg = STf. Notice that $g \in L^2(G)$ and TS(g) = TST(f) = TSTf = Tf + RTf = g + Rg. On the other hand

$$R(Tf) = RT(\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} RTf_n = R(\lim_{n \to \infty} Tf_n) = Rg.$$

Now from the equality Tf + RTf = g + Rg we deduce that Tf = g.

The corresponding statement for trace class pseudo-differential operators is the following (for the proof, we follow the approach of the recent works by J. Delgado and M. Ruzhansky [16, 17, 18]).

Theorem 4.8. Let A be a pseudo-differential operator on $\Psi^m(G)$, $m < -\dim(G)$ with distributional kernel K(x, y). Then A is trace class on $L^2(G)$ and

$$\operatorname{tr}(A) = \int_{G} \sum_{[\xi] \in \hat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_A(x,\xi)] dx,$$

where $\sigma_A(x,\xi)$ is the matrix-valued symbol of A.

Proof. It is well known that if A is a pseudo-differential operator of order less that $-n = -\dim(G)$, then A is trace class (see [27]). Now, the trace $\operatorname{Tr}(A)$ of A is given by $\operatorname{Tr}(A) = \int_G K(x, x) dx$ provided that K(x, y) will be a continuous function on the diagonal. If we assume the boundedness of $x \mapsto K(x, x)$, since, in the case of compact Lie groups we have $K(x, y) = \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}(\xi(x)\sigma(x, y)\xi(y)^*)$, then, $K(x, x) = \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_A(x, \xi)]$, and we could end the proof. So, we only need to show the boundedness of $\kappa(\cdot) = K(\cdot, \cdot)$. Let us note that κ is a bounded function on G. Indeed, because $A \in \Psi^m(G)$, if $I_{d_{\xi}}$ denotes the identity matrix on $\mathbb{C}^{d_{\xi} \times d_{\xi}}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\kappa(x)| &\leq \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} |\operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)]| = \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} |\operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)I_{d_{\xi}}]| \\ &\leq \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \|\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \|I_{d_{\xi}}\|_{\mathrm{HS}} = \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \|\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)I_{d_{\xi}}\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \times d_{\xi}^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &\leq \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \|\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)\|_{op} \|I_{d_{\xi}}\|_{\mathrm{HS}} \times d_{\xi}^{\frac{1}{2}} = \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi}^{2} \|\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)\|_{op} \\ &\lesssim \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi}^{2} \langle\xi\rangle^{m} < \infty, \end{aligned}$$

where we have used that m < -n in order to conclude that the last series converges. So, for every $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, let us define the function

$$\kappa_{\ell}(x) := \sum_{\langle \xi \rangle \le \ell} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_A(x,\xi)].$$
(4.14)

For every $x \in G$, $|\kappa(x)| < \infty$, and the sequence of derivable functions κ_{ℓ} , $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$, converges pointwise to κ . Let $(Y_j)_{j=1}^{\dim(G)}$ be a basis for the Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} of G, and let ∂_j be the left-invariant vector fields corresponding to Y_j . If we assume that the sequence of continuous functions $\partial_j \kappa_{\ell}$ converges uniformly to some continuous function κ' on G (that is compact) then κ is derivable and $\kappa' = \partial_j \kappa$, (consequently we could prove the continuity of κ). So, we need to prove the existence of κ' . If $\ell < \ell'$, then

$$\|\partial_{j}\kappa_{\ell} - \partial_{j}\kappa_{\ell'}\|_{L^{\infty}(G)} \leq \sum_{\ell < \langle \xi \rangle \leq \ell'} d_{\xi} |\operatorname{Tr}[\partial_{j}\sigma_{A}(x,\xi)]| \lesssim \sum_{\ell < \langle \xi \rangle \leq \ell'} d_{\xi}^{2} \langle \xi \rangle^{m} \to 0, \text{ as } \ell \to \infty.$$
(4.15)

So, the sequence of continuous functions $\partial_j \kappa_\ell$ is a Cauchy sequence on C(G) and we end the proof taking into account that $(C(G), \|\cdot\|_{L^{\infty}(G)})$ is a complete normed space.

We end this section with the following result.

Theorem 4.9. Let us consider $m \ge 0$ and let $A \in \Psi^m(G)$ be an elliptic operator. Then the index of A is given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(g)\xi)(e_{G})) \, dg, \qquad (4.16)$$

where

$$(\mu_{\gamma}(g)\xi)(e_G) = (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g))\xi)(e_G) - (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g))\xi)(e_G),$$
(4.17)

for all $\gamma > 0$.

Proof. By taking into account that A has discrete spectrum, by Proposition 4.7 we can use Theorem 2.4 in order to compute the index of A. If $B_{\gamma}(x,\xi)$ is the matrix-valued symbol associated to $e^{-\gamma A^*A}$ then

$$(\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(x)\xi)(e_G) = B_{\gamma}(x,\xi).$$

$$(4.18)$$

If m > 0, in order to compute $\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(x)$ we will use the operator-valued functional calculus developed above. Let us note that for m = 0, A^*A is a bounded operator on $L^2(G)$ and the symbol $\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^*A}}(x)$ has been computed in Theorem 4.3 by using the exponential formula $e^T = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!}T^k$. If m > 0, then A could be unbounded on L^2 and consequently we cannot use the previous exponential formula. So, by Theorem 3.2 applied to $F(t) = e^{-\gamma t}$ and $T = A^*A$, we have the identity $F(A^*A)f(x) = [F(\sigma_{A^*A}(x))f](x), f \in C^{\infty}(G)$, which in turn is equivalent to

$$e^{-\gamma A^*A}f(x) = [e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*A}(x)}]f(x) = [e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}]f(x), x \in G,$$
(4.19)

where we have used the composition formula $\sigma_{BA}(x) = \sigma_B(x)\sigma_A(x)$ applied to $B = A^*$. Consequently, by the uniqueness of the operator-valued quantization, we deduce that

$$\sigma_{e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*A}}}(x) = e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}, \text{ and, } B_{\gamma}(x,\xi) = (e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}\xi)(e_G).$$
(4.20)

Now, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^*A}) = \int_G \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}(B_{\gamma}(x,\xi)) dx, \qquad (4.21)$$

where we have used Theorem 4.8. So, we have

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^*A}) = \int_G \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}((e^{-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}\xi)(e_G))dx.$$
(4.22)

A similar analysis gives

$$\operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma AA^*}) = \int_G \sum_{[\xi]\in\widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}((e^{-\gamma\sigma_A(x)\sigma_{A^*}(x)}\xi)(e_G))dx.$$
(4.23)

Thus, we obtain

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{G} \sum_{[\xi] \in \widehat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}((e^{-\gamma \sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(x)}\xi)(e_G) - (e^{-\gamma \sigma_A(x)\sigma_{A^*}(x)}\xi)(e_G))dx. \quad (4.24)$$

With the last line we finish the proof.

15

Remark 4.10 (Index of matrix-valued pseudo-differential operators). Let us note that Theorem 2.4 implies the following formula for the index of A.

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^* A}) - \operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A A^*}).$$
(4.25)

We now observe by applying Theorem 4.8 that

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{ind}(A) &= \operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A^* A}) - \operatorname{tr}(e^{-\gamma A A^*}) \\ &= \int_G \sum_{[\xi] \in \hat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{tr}[\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A^* A}}(x,\xi)] dx - \int_G \sum_{[\xi] \in \hat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[\sigma_{e^{-\gamma A A^*}}(x,\xi)] dx \\ &= \int_G \sum_{[\xi] \in \hat{G}} d_{\xi} \operatorname{Tr}[i_{\gamma}(x,\xi)] dx, \end{aligned}$$

where $i_{\gamma}(x,\xi) := \sigma_{[e^{-\gamma A^* A} - e^{-\gamma A A^*}]}(x,\xi).$

5. The index of operators on \mathbb{T}^n , SU(2) and SU(3).

In this section we consider our index formulae on the *n*-dimensional torus \mathbb{T}^n , and the special unitary groups SU(2) and SU(3). Our starting point is the following example in the commutative setting. Our main goal is to provide explicit computations for the integral expression in Theorem 4.9.

Example 5.1. (The torus). Let us consider the *n*-dimensional torus $G = \mathbb{T}^n := \mathbb{R}^n / \mathbb{Z}^n$ and its unitary dual $\widehat{\mathbb{T}}^n := \{e_\ell : \ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n\}, e_\ell(x) := e^{i2\pi\ell \cdot x}, x \in \mathbb{T}^n$. Let us assume that $A \in \Psi^m(\mathbb{T}^n), m \ge 0$, is an elliptic operator. Under the identification $\mathbb{T}^n \cong [0,1)^n$, by Theorem 4.9 the index of A is given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{[0,1)^n} \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{Z}^n} (\mu_{\gamma}(x)e^{2\pi i \ell x})(1) \, dx, \qquad (5.1)$$

where

 $(\mu_{\gamma}(x)e^{i2\pi x\ell})(1) = (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(x)\sigma_A(1))e^{2\pi i\ell x})(1) - (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_A(x)\sigma_{A^*}(x))e^{2\pi i\ell x})(1),$ for all $\gamma > 0$. Other properties on the quantization of global pseudo-differential operators on the torus can be found in [28].

Now, we present an index formula for elliptic operators on SU(2). The matrixvalued calculus of pseudo-differential operators for SU(2) can be found in [31].

Example 5.2. (The group SU(2)). Let us consider the group SU(2) $\cong \mathbb{S}^3$ consisting of those orthogonal matrices A in $\mathbb{C}^{2\times 2}$, with det(A) = 1. We recall that the unitary dual of SU(2) (see [29]) can be identified as

$$\hat{SU}(2) \equiv \{[t_l] : 2l \in \mathbb{N}, d_l := \dim t_l = (2l+1)\}.$$
(5.2)

There are explicit formulae for the representations t_l as functions of Euler angles in terms of the so-called Legendre-Jacobi polynomials, see [29]. Let us consider $m \ge 0$ and let $A \in \Psi^m(\mathrm{SU}(2))$ be an elliptic operator. Then the index of A is given by

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{\mathrm{SU}(2)} \sum_{l \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}} (2l+1) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(g)t_{l}(g))(I_{2})) \, dg,$$
(5.3)

where $I_2 \in \mathbb{C}^{2 \times 2}$ is the identity matrix and

$$(\mu_{\gamma}(g)t_{l}(g))(I_{2}) = (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A^{*}}(g)\sigma_{A}(g))t_{l}(g))(I_{2}) - (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A}(g)\sigma_{A^{*}}(g))t_{l}(g))(I_{2})$$
(5.4)

for all $\gamma > 0$. By using the diffeomorphism $\rho : \mathrm{SU}(2) \to \mathbb{S}^3$, defined by

$$\varrho(g) = x := (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4), \text{ for } g = \begin{bmatrix} x_1 + ix_2 & x_3 + ix_4 \\ -x_3 + ix_4 & x_1 - ix_2 \end{bmatrix},$$
(5.5)

we have

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^3} \sum_{l \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}} (2l+1) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(\varrho^{-1}(x))t_l(\varrho^{-1}(x)))(I_2)) \, d\sigma(x), \qquad (5.6)$$

where $d\sigma(x)$ is the surface measure on \mathbb{S}^3 . Now, we want to compute explicitly the last integral. If we consider the usual parametrization of \mathbb{S}^3 defined by $x_1 := \cos(\frac{t}{2}), x_2 := \nu, x_3 := (\sin^2(\frac{t}{2}) - \nu^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \cos(s), x_4 := (\sin^2(\frac{t}{2}) - \nu^2)^{\frac{1}{2}} \sin(s)$, where

$$(t,\nu,s) \in D := \{(t,\nu,s) \in \mathbb{R}^3 : |\nu| \le \sin(\frac{t}{2}), \ 0 \le t, s \le 2\pi\},\$$

then $d\sigma(x) = \sin(\frac{t}{2}) dt d\nu ds$, and we have the following index formula in terms of iterated integrals,

 $\operatorname{ind}(A)$

$$= \int_{0}^{2\pi} \int_{-\sin(t/2)}^{2\pi} \int_{l\in\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}}^{\sin(t/2)} \sum_{l\in\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{N}} (2l+1) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(\varrho^{-1}(t,\nu,s))t_{l}(\varrho^{-1}(t,\nu,s)))(I_{2})) \sin(\frac{t}{2}) d\nu dt ds.$$

We end this section with the following example in the non-commutative context. **Example 5.3.** The Lie group SU(3) (see Fegan [21]) has dimension 8 and 3 positive square roots α, β and ρ with the property

$$\rho = \frac{1}{2}(\alpha + \beta + \rho). \tag{5.7}$$

We define the weights

$$\sigma = \frac{2}{2}\alpha + \frac{1}{3}\beta, \ \tau = \frac{1}{3}\alpha + \frac{2}{3}\beta.$$
 (5.8)

With the notations above the unitary dual of SU(3) can be identified with

$$\widehat{\mathrm{SU}}(3) \cong \{\lambda := \lambda(a, b) = a\sigma + b\tau : a, b \in \mathbb{N}_0, \}.$$
(5.9)

In fact, every representation $\pi = \pi_{\lambda(a,b)}$ has highest weight $\lambda = \lambda(a,b)$ for some $(a,b) \in \mathbb{N}_0^2$. In this case $d_{\lambda(a,b)} := d_{\pi_{\lambda(a,b)}} = \frac{1}{2}(a+1)(b+1)(a+b+2)$. If we choose an elliptic operator $A \in \Psi^m(\mathrm{SU}(3))$ with $m \ge 0$, then by using Theorem 4.9, we can to compute the index of A by the formula

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \int_{\mathbb{SU}(3)} \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{N}_0} \frac{1}{2} (a+1)(b+1)(a+b+2) \operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(g)\pi_{a\sigma+b\tau})(I_3)) \, dg, \quad (5.10)$$

where $I_3 \in \mathbb{C}^{3 \times 3}$ is the identity matrix and

$$(\mu_{\gamma}(g)\pi_{a\sigma+b\tau})(I_3) = (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_{A^*}(g)\sigma_A(g))\pi_{a\sigma+b\tau})(I_3) - (\exp(-\gamma\sigma_A(g)\sigma_{A^*}(g))\pi_{a\sigma+b\tau})(I_3),$$

for all $\gamma > 0$. Now, as in the previous example, we compute the integral explicitly. If we consider the parametrization of SU(3) (see, e.g., Bronzan [13]),

$$g \equiv g(\theta, \phi) = g(\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4, \phi_5) := (u_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,3},$$

where $0 \leq \theta_i \leq \frac{\pi}{2}, 0 \leq \phi_i \leq 2\pi$, and

• $u_{11} = \cos \theta_1 \cos \theta_2 e^{i\phi_1}$

•
$$u_{12} = \sin \theta_1 e^{i\phi_2}$$

- $u_{13} = \cos \theta_1 \sin \theta_2 e^{i\phi_4}$
- $u_{21} = \sin \theta_1 \sin \theta_3 e^{-i\phi_4 i\phi_5} \sin \theta_1 \cos \theta_2 \cos \theta_3 e^{i\phi_1 + i\phi_2 i\phi_3}$
- $u_{22} = \cos \theta_1 \cos \theta_3 e^{i\phi_2}$
- $u_{23} = -\cos\theta_1 \sin\theta_3 e^{-i\phi_1 i\phi_5} \sin\theta_1 \sin\theta_2 \cos\theta_3 e^{i\phi_2 i\phi_3 + i\phi_4}$
- $u_{31} = -\sin\theta_1 \cos\theta_2 \sin\theta_3 e^{i\phi_1 i\phi_3 + i\phi_5} \sin\theta_2 \cos\theta_3 e^{-i\phi_2 i\phi_4}$
- $u_{32} = \cos \theta_1 \sin \theta_3 e^{i\phi_5}$
- $u_{33} = \cos \theta_2 \cos \theta_3 e^{-i\phi_1 i\phi_2} \sin \theta_1 \sin \theta_2 \sin \theta_3 e^{-i\phi_3 + i\phi_4 + i\phi_5}$

then, the group measure is the determinant given by

$$dg = \frac{1}{2\pi^5} \sin\theta_1 \cos^3\theta_1 \sin\theta_2 \cos\theta_2 \sin\theta_3 \cos\theta_3 d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3 d\phi_1 d\phi_2 d\phi_3 d\phi_4 d\phi_5, \quad (5.11)$$

and we have

$$\operatorname{ind}(A) = \frac{1}{4\pi^5} \int_{[0,\frac{\pi}{2}]^3} \int_{[0,2\pi]^5} \sum_{a,b\in\mathbb{N}_0} (a+b+ab+1)(a+b+2)\operatorname{Tr}((\mu_{\gamma}(g(\theta,\phi))\pi_{a\sigma+b\tau})(I_3))$$

 $\times \sin \theta_1 \cos^3 \theta_1 \sin \theta_2 \cos \theta_2 \sin \theta_3 \cos \theta_3 d\theta \, d\phi,$

with $(\theta, \phi) = (\theta_1, \theta_2, \theta_3, \phi_1, \phi_2, \phi_3, \phi_4, \phi_5), d\theta = d\theta_1 d\theta_2 d\theta_3$, and $d\phi = d\phi_1 d\phi_2 d\phi_3 d\phi_4 d\phi_5$.

Acknowledgements. I would like to thank Alexander Cardona and Michael Ruzhansky for various discussions. I also would like to thanks Julio Delgado who has suggested me a gap in the proof of Proposition 4.8 in a previous version of this document. The author is indebted with the referee of this paper by his/her asserted suggestions which helped to improve the manuscript.

References

- 1. Atiyah, M. F.; Bott, R.: The index problem for manifolds with boundary. 1964 Differential Analysis, Bombay Colloq., 1964 pp. 175-186 Oxford Univ. Press, London.
- Atiyah, M.; Bott, R.; Patodi, V. K.: On the heat equation and the index theorem. Invent. Math. 19 (1973), 279-330.
- Atiyah, M. F., Singer, I.M. .: The index of elliptic operators on compact manifolds. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 69, 422-433 (1963).
- Atiyah, M. F.; Singer, I. M.: The index of elliptic operators. I. Ann. of Math. (2) 87 1968 484-530.
- Atiyah, M. F.; Segal, G.: The index of elliptic operators. II. Ann. of Math. (2) 87 1968 531-545.
- Atiyah, M. F.; Singer, I. M.: The index of elliptic operators. III. Ann. of Math. (2) 87 1968 546-604.
- Atiyah, M. F.; Singer, I. M.: Index theory for skew-adjoint Fredholm operators. Inst. Hautes tudes Sci. Publ. Math. no. 37 1969 5-26.
- Atiyah, M. F.; Singer, I. M.: The index of elliptic operators. IV. Ann. of Math. (2) 93 1971 119-138.
- Atiyah, M. F.; Singer, I. M.: The index of elliptic operators. V. Ann. of Math. (2) 93 1971 139-149.
- Bleecker, D.; Booss-Bavnbek, B. Index theory with applications to mathematics and physics. International Press, Somerville, MA, 2013.
- Berline, N., Vergne, M. A computation of the equivariant index of the Dirac oper- ator, Bull. Soc. Math. France 113 (1985), no. 3, 305345
- Bott, R. The index theorem for homogeneous differential operators, in Differential and Combinatorial Topology, S. S. Cairns (Ed.), Princeton University Press, (1965), 167–186. MR 31:62
- 13. Bronzan, J. B. Parametrization of SU(3). Phys. Rev. D. 38(6), 1994–1999, (1988).
- Connes, A., Moscovici, H. A. L²-index theorem for homogeneous spaces of Lie groups, Ann. of Math. 115 (1982), 291–330.
- Dasgupta A., Ruzhansky M., Gohberg lemma, compactness, and essential spectrum of operators on compact Lie groups, J. Anal. Math. 128 (2016), 179–190.
- Delgado, J. Ruzhansky, M.: L^p-nuclearity, traces, and Grothendieck-Lidskii formula on compact Lie groups., J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 102(1), 153-172 (2014)
- Delgado, J. Ruzhansky, M.: Schatten classes on compact manifolds: Kernel conditions. J. Funct. Anal., 267(3), 772-798 (2014)
- Delgado, J. Ruzhansky, M.: Kernel and symbol criteria for Schatten classes and r-nuclearity on compact manifolds., C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris. Ser. I. 352. 779-784 (2014)
- Fedosov, B.: Index theorems, in Partial differential equations, VIII, vol. 65 of Encyclopaedia Math. Sci., 155-251, Springer, Berlin, 1996.
- 20. Fedosov, B.: Deformation Quantization and Index Theory. New York : Akademie Verlag, 1995.
- Fegan, H.: Introduction to compact Lie groups. Series in Pure Mathematics, 13. World Scientific Publishing Co., Inc., River Edge, NJ, 1991.
- Fischer, V. Intrinsic pseudo-differential calculus on compact Lie groups. J. Funct. Anal. 268, 11, p. 3404–3477

- 23. Goette, S. Equivariant η -invariants on homogeneous spaces, Math. Z. 232 (1999), no. 1, 1–42,
- 24. Hörmander, L.: The Analysis of the linear partial differential operators Vol. III. Springer-Verlag, (1985)
- 25. Hong, S. A Lie-algebraic approach to the local index theorem on compact homogeneous spaces, Adv. in Math. 296 (2016), 127–153,
- 26. Hong, S. Borel-Weil-Bott theorem via the equivariant McKean-Singer formula. Available at arXiv:1412.3879
- 27. Roe, J.: Elliptic operators. Addison Wesley, second edition. 1998.
- Ruzhansky M., Turunen V., Quantization of pseudo-differential operators on the torus, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 16 (2010), 943–982.
- 29. Ruzhansky, M., Turunen, V.:Pseudo-differential Operators and Symmetries: Background Analysis and Advanced Topics Birkhäuser-Verlag, Basel, (2010)
- Ruzhansky M., Turunen V., Wirth J., Hörmander class of pseudo-differential operators on compact Lie groups and global hypoellipticity, J. Fourier Anal. Appl., 20 (2014), 476–499.
- Ruzhansky M., Turunen V., Global quantization of pseudo-differential operators on compact Lie groups, SU(2) and 3-sphere, Int. Math. Res. Not. IMRN 2013, no. 11, 2439–2496.
- Ruzhansky M., Wirth J., Global functional calculus for operators on compact Lie groups, J. Funct. Anal., 267 (2014), 144–172
- Ruzhansky M., Wirth J., L^p Fourier multipliers on compact Lie groups, Math. Z., 280 (2015), 621–642.
- Sabin, A. Y. On the index of nonlocal elliptic operators for compact Lie groups. Cent. Europ. J. Math. 9(4), 833–850.
- Slebarski, S. The Dirac operator on homogeneous spaces and representations of reductive Lie groups. I, Amer. J. Math. 109 (1987), no. 2, 283–301,
- Urakawa, H. The heat equation on compact Lie group, Osaka J. Math. 12 (1975), no. 2, 285–297.
- J. Weidmann. Linear operators in Hilbert spaces. Translated from the German by Joseph Szücs. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 68. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1980.

DUVÁN CARDONA: DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS PONTIFICIA UNIVERSIDAD JAVERIANA. BOGOTÁ COLOMBIA *E-mail address* duvanc306@gmail.com; cardonaduvan@javeriana.edu.co